#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO.: SC09-1881 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 3D09-264, 03-12769 CA 01 (06)

# WESTGATE MIAMI BEACH, LTD., a Florida Limited Partnership

Appellant,

vs.

NEWPORT OPERATING CORP., a Florida corporation

Appellee.

#### **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

Respectfully submitted, Robert P. Frankel & Associates, P.A. City National Bank Bldg., Suite 900 25 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Phone: (305) 358-5690 Fax: (305) 358-2306 Robert P. Frankel, Esq. Florida Bar No. 304786 Attorneys for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This brief arises from the appeal of post-judgment proceedings in a lawsuit brought originally by Westgate against Newport and two (2) affiliated companies, Five Seas Investors, Inc. and Atlantic Resort Development, Ltd. On May 18, 2007, Judge Jeri Beth Cohen of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida (the "Lower Court") entered its Final Judgment awarding damages to Westgate and against Newport in the amount of \$7,744,169.00 which was subsequently reduced to \$5,000,867.00. Pertinent to the present post-judgment proceedings and to this appeal is a provision located on page 46 of the Final Judgment, in which the Lower Court determined that Westgate was entitled to prejudgment interest on the damages the Lower Court awarded to it and ruled that "[a] separate order will be entered awarding prejudgment interest."<sup>1</sup>

Within ten (10) days of the Final Judgment,<sup>2</sup> on May 29, 2007, Westgate filed a post-trial motion, as contemplated by Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530, requesting that the Lower Court calculate the amount of prejudgment interest the Lower Court had

<sup>1.</sup> The Final Judgment, as originally entered by the Lower Court, is found at Appendix, Tab "A."

<sup>2.</sup> Westgate's Motion to Assess (defined below) appears to be contemplated by Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530, and was, accordingly, served in accordance with its time constraints. *See Emerald Coast Communications, Inc. v. Carter*, 780 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

already determined was due Westgate.<sup>3</sup> Newport also pursued post-trial motions which, among other things, challenged Westgate's entitlement to prejudgment interest. On June 8, 2007, Westgate's Motion to Assess was called for hearing, as were Newport's post-trial motions.<sup>4</sup> At the June 8, 2007 hearing, the Lower Court rejected Newport's challenge to Westgate's entitlement to prejudgment interest and reaffirmed its initial determination, in the Final Judgment, that Westgate was entitled to prejudgment interest.

During the June 8, 2007 hearing, Newport's counsel persuaded the Lower Court to defer ruling on Westgate's Motion to Assess. Specifically, Newport's counsel stated:

[T]he Court has already found that it is intending in its language to give entitlement to Westgate. That's all that's necessary to make an appealable judgment assuming you're going to stand by the amount of calculating, that doesn't affect the appeal. That's the number. That is what it is once we agree on how to calculate it . . . Now that you've clarified that you've made a finding that the language is to be construed as an entitlement in their favor it now becomes final . . . . It's a **ministerial calculation.** I have been very clear about that . . . . You've already ruled in their favor on entitlement to prejudgment interest.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>3.</sup> *See* Motion to Assess Prejudgment Interest Pursuant to Final Judgment ("Motion to Assess"), Appendix, Tab "B." The prejudgment interest calculations were already received into evidence during the trial.

<sup>4.</sup> A transcript of the proceedings is found at Appendix, Tab "C."

<sup>5.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, pp. 130, 134, 136, Appendix, Tab "C" (e.s.).

To this Judge Cohen agreed: "[a]nd at this point we'll just agree on what the

calculation will be."<sup>6</sup> Indeed, Newport's counsel encouraged the Lower Court not

to rule on Westgate's Motion to Assess:

THE COURT: Can it go up to the appellate court prior to litigating how to calculate it?

MR. ZEMEL (Newport's Counsel): It can go up—the amount can be calculated later as long as entitlement has been determined.

THE COURT: Then that can go up prior to me—

MR. ZEMEL: Yes. That's why I'm saying, if you've determined entitlement, if you'll give us an order on this motion that we can appeal prior to June 17<sup>th</sup>, that will be a final appealable judgment and order that we can take up. The amount could be done when you come back. Because that amount is going to run no matter what.<sup>7</sup>

\* \* \*

THE COURT: So I can just find entitlement, but defer on—

MR. ZEMEL: you're thinking about post-judgment interest, which is what we're—is the purpose of the bond. The prejudgment is what it is. Okay?<sup>8</sup>

In fact, the Lower Court, persuaded by Newport's counsel, Mr. Zemel, never

did rule and issue the "separate order" on Westgate's Motion to Assess. Despite

Westgate's insistence that the Lower Court issue the order promised by the Final

Judgment calculating the prejudgment interest, the Lower Court stated that she did

not have the time to do so as she was going to be out for the next month:

<sup>6.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, p. 136, Appendix, Tab "C."

<sup>7.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, p. 131, Appendix, Tab "C" (e.s.).

<sup>8.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, p. 133, Appendix, Tab "C."

MR. FRANKEL (Westgate's Counsel): Your Honor, may I ask this: When are you taking off for a month? When is that going to happen? When are you leaving? THE COURT: I am leaving next week. I will be gone until July 16<sup>th</sup>. I'm going away for a month. Then I'm returning, but I have another thing that I have to do that's going to take me most of August. I'm getting a senior judge to cover for me.<sup>9</sup>

\* \* \*

MR. FRANKEL (Westgate's Counsel): Your Honor, on the prejudgment interest question, we had filed the motion, it was set for today.
THE COURT: I can't do this today.
MR. FRANKEL: I understand that.
THE COURT: I can't. And I can't do it next week.
MR. FRANKEL: It was contemplated by the judgment.
I'm not pushing to have it next week.
THE COURT: It's not going to go away.<sup>10</sup>

Thereafter, on June 11, 2007, the Lower Court, by written order, denied

Newport's post-trial motions, while amending the Final Judgment as to the amount

of compensatory damages only. The Lower Court further amended the damages

amount on June 13, 2007.<sup>11</sup>

On June 18, 2007, within the ten (10) day period contemplated by

Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530, Westgate served its Revised Motion to Assess Prejudgment

<sup>9.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, p. 133, Appendix, Tab "C."

<sup>10.</sup> June 8, 2007 hearing, p. 135, Appendix, Tab "C."

<sup>11.</sup> Copies of the orders of June 11 and June 13, 2007 are found at Appendix, Tabs "D" & "E," respectively.

Interest ("Revised Motion to Assess"),<sup>12</sup> which was not heard by the Lower Court before the parties perfected their respective appeals.

Once Newport's post-trial motions were denied, the Final Judgment, as twice amended, became subject to execution and levy. Newport did not, however, seek an automatic stay of the enforcement of the judgment per Fla.R.App.P. 9.310(b) or apply to the Lower Court for a supersedeas of the Final Judgment. On September 6, 2007, as a private, extra-judicial alternative to Fla.R.App.P. 9.310, or a court approved supersedeas, the parties, without judicial intervention, agreed, via a letter agreement (the "Letter Agreement"), that, in consideration of Westgate's agreement to defer collection of the Final Judgment, Newport would obtain a letter of credit issued in favor of Westgate (the "Letter of Credit"). The Letter Agreement did not require judicial sanction or approval, and was not, in fact, filed with the Lower Court or otherwise judicially approved or made part of any court order. The Letter Agreement contained a provision by which Westgate reserved its right to pursue the prejudgment interest the Lower Court awarded it and Newport reserved its right to challenge Westgate's entitlement to prejudgment interest.<sup>13</sup> Yet, despite Newport's reservation and although Newport argued vigorously in its post-trial motions that Westgate was not entitled to prejudgment interest, Newport failed to raise the issue of Westgate's entitlement to prejudgment interest on appeal

- 12. Revised Motion to Assess, Appendix, Tab "F."
- 13. See Letter Agreement, p.1, Appendix, Tab "G."

even though it appealed the Final Judgment which included the reservation for prejudgment interest.

The Third District Court of Appeal (the "Appellate Court") per curiam affirmed the Final Judgment on March 19, 2008,<sup>14</sup> and denied Newport's various motions for rehearing and written opinion on May 30, 2008. The Appellate Court's Mandate to the Lower Court was thereafter issued on June 16, 2008. Newport did not seek further appellate review of the Final Judgment. With postjudgment jurisdiction now restored to the Lower Court via the Mandate, Westgate called its pending Revised Motion to Assess up for hearing on July 31, 2008. In advance of the hearing, Westgate supplemented the Revised Motion to Assess on July 15, 2008 to include updated prejudgment interest calculations.<sup>15</sup> On July 29, 2008, Newport filed a Motion to Release Letter of Credit,<sup>16</sup> and on the afternoon of July 30<sup>th</sup>, less than twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled hearing to calculate the amount of prejudgment interest and enter judgment thereon, Newport filed a Response to Westgate's Motion/Amended Motion to Assess Prejudgment Interest (hereinafter the "Response in Opposition"), claiming for the first time that Westgate lost its entitlement to prejudgment interest by failing to have it calculated

<sup>14.</sup> *Newport Operating Corp. v. Westgate Miami Beach, Ltd.*, 982 So.2d 698 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008).

<sup>15.</sup> Supplement to Revised Motion to Assess Prejudgment Interest, Appendix, Tab "H."

<sup>16.</sup> Newport's Motion to Release Letter of Credit, Appendix, Tab "I."

and included in the Final Judgment before appeals were perfected.<sup>17</sup> The Response in Opposition was a surprising and shocking reversal of Newport's pre-appeal posture regarding the prejudgment interest, when it persuaded the Lower Court not to calculate the prejudgment interest despite Westgate's insistence.

The Response in Opposition claimed that Westgate forfeited its already determined right to prejudgment interest by failing to seek the Court's calculation to be included in the Final Judgment either by filing a timely Rule 1.530(b) motion (which Westgate did on no less than two (2) distinct occasions) or by requesting relinquishment of jurisdiction from the Appellate Court to permit the Lower Court to perform the calculation (which Westgate had no reason to do as Newport, not Westgate, precipitated the Lower Court's refusal to enter the order calculating the interest to which she had already determined entitlement by assuring the Lower Court that it was no more than a "ministerial" act).

At the July 31, 2008 hearing, the Lower Court, notwithstanding the actual language of the Final Judgment that a separate order would be entered awarding prejudgment interest and the post-trial argument of Newport and its counsel that the calculation was ministerial and could be performed after the appeal, concluded that, because of the appeal, it lost all jurisdiction and any ability to calculate the

<sup>17.</sup> See Response in Opposition, p. 1, Appendix, Tab "J."

prejudgment interest based upon the holding in *McGurn v. Scott.*<sup>18</sup> The Lower Court, although it desperately wanted to do so, did not believe it had the authority to complete the calculation of pre-judgment interest.<sup>19</sup> In essence, Westgate and the Lower Court were blindsided by Newport's change of position, a position dramatically different than the pre-appeal position earlier taken that the Court could assess prejudgment interest at a later time notwithstanding the appeal.

In the Lower Court's own words, parroting Newport's argument, "[m]y problem is that I can't . . . because I don't know if I have jurisdiction."<sup>20</sup> The Lower Court also pondered: "I probably didn't know the law on prejudgment interest . . . . But if I've lost jurisdiction, I can't give it to myself and that's what is worrying me."<sup>21</sup> During the July 31, 2008 hearing the Lower Court empathized with Westgate that her ruling "creates an inequity . . . And I really feel very very bad about it and extremely apologetic and sorry."<sup>22</sup> The Lower Court further stated "if I thought that there was any way possible under this case law that I had jurisdiction to give [Westgate] money, I would do it, because I think [Westgate] deserves it, based on my ruling."<sup>23</sup> While the Lower Court may have apologized greatly, the apology does not allay the serious consequences of its actions or the

<sup>18. 596</sup> So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 1992).

<sup>19.</sup> July 31, 2008 hearing, pp. 14-15, 51, Tab "K."

<sup>20.</sup> July 31, 2008 hearing, p. 29, Appendix, Tab "K."

<sup>21.</sup> July 31, 2008 hearing, pp. 14-15, Appendix, Tab "K."

<sup>22.</sup> July 31, 2008 hearing, p. 51, Appendix, Tab "K."

<sup>23.</sup> July 31, 2008 hearing, p. 59, Appendix, Tab "K."

conduct by Newport and its counsel. In fact, by deciding that Westgate was not entitled to prejudgment interest, the Lower Court deprived Westgate of almost two (2) million dollars, and created a windfall for Newport.

At the same time, the Lower Court announced her intent to order the release of the Letter of Credit Newport procured per the Letter Agreement to preclude Westgate's enforcement of the Final Judgment, although neither the Letter Agreement nor the Letter of Credit had ever before been brought within the sphere of the Lower Court's jurisdiction. Before any formal orders were entered on the Revised Motion to Assess, Westgate initiated two new actions in the Appellate Court, a Petition for Writ of Prohibition (Case Number 3D08-2025)<sup>24</sup> on August 6, 2008 and a Petition for Writ of Mandamus (Case Number 3D08-2115)<sup>25</sup> on August 14, 2008 in order to protect its rights under the Letter of Credit and to require that the Lower Court award the prejudgment interest it had already determined Westgate was due. Westgate subsequently filed a Motion to Enforce Mandate in the original appellate proceeding (Case Number 3D07-1599)<sup>26</sup> on August 13, 2008 which similarly arose from the Lower Court's refusal to award prejudgment interest pursuant to its Final Judgment. On September 3, 2008, the Appellate Court entered an Order denying Westgate's Motion to Enforce Mandate without

<sup>24.</sup> Petition for Writ of Prohibition, Appendix, Tab "L."

<sup>25.</sup> Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Appendix, Tab "M."

<sup>26.</sup> Motion to Enforce Mandate, Appendix, Tab "N."

prejudice to either party's right to appeal an order on Westgate's Revised Motion to Assess, or to seek a writ of mandamus if the Lower Court did not timely rule on that motion (the "Mandate Order").<sup>27</sup> On November 18, 2008, the Appellate Court entered two separate orders denying Westgate's Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Westgate's Petition for Writ of Prohibition.<sup>28</sup> These two orders and the previously issued Mandate Order effectively restored jurisdiction to the Lower Court to enter a final appealable order on Westgate's Revised Motion to Assess.

On November 21, 2008, in accordance with the Appellate Court's Mandate Order, Westgate filed a Motion to Conduct Hearing in Accordance with Order of the Third District Court of Appeal, which was set for hearing on December 8, 2008. Prior to the scheduled hearing the Lower Court requested the parties to seek clarification from the Third District Court of Appeal on the Orders denying Westgate's Writs of Prohibition and Mandamus and on the Mandate Order, specifically as they related to the Lower Court's jurisdictional ability to rule on the Revised Motion to Assess and to calculate prejudgment interest.

In accordance with this request, Newport submitted Motions for Clarification and Motions to Stay Issuance of Mandate Pending Clarification of

<sup>27.</sup> See Mandate Order, Appendix, Tab "O."

<sup>28.</sup> These two Orders are found at Appendix, Tabs "P" and "Q," respectively.

Order to the Appellate Court, and Westgate filed its responses.<sup>29</sup> On December 23, 2008, the Appellate Court issued two orders, one granting Newport's motion for clarification and instructing the Lower Court to rule on the determination of prejudgment interest (the "Clarification Order")<sup>30</sup> and one denying Newport's Motion to Stay Issuance of Mandate Pending Clarification of Order.<sup>31</sup>

On January 7, 2009, a hearing was held on Westgate's Revised Motion to Assess and on Newport's Motion to Release Letter of Credit in which the Lower Court denied Westgate's Revised Motion to Assess and granted Newport's Motion to Release Letter of Credit, admitting that Newport's counsel led it to error when he represented to the Court that the interest could be awarded post-appeal.<sup>32</sup> At the January 7, 2009 hearing, the Lower Court entered orders denying Westgate's Revised Motion to Assess (the "Interest Order")<sup>33</sup>, and granting Newport's Motion to Release Letter of Credit<sup>34</sup>

Westgate immediately appealed, challenging the Interest Order. On June 3, 2009, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the Interest Order with a written

<sup>29.</sup> Newport filed five such motions, a motion for clarification of order in each of the three appellate cases and two motions to stay in the prohibition and mandamus proceedings.

<sup>30.</sup> The Clarification Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "R."

<sup>31.</sup> The Order Denying Newport's Motion to Stay Issuance of Mandate Pending Clarification of Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "S."

<sup>32.</sup> January 7, 2009 hearing, p.23, Appendix, Tab "T."

<sup>33.</sup> The Interest Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "U."

<sup>34.</sup> The Letter of Credit Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "V."

opinion.<sup>35</sup> Therein, the Third District Court of Appeal noted that their "decision imposes a harsh result upon one side; however, under the clear-cut rule set forth in Florida's case law", specifically *McGurn v. Scott*, the Appellate Court was compelled to affirm.<sup>36</sup> Thereafter, Westgate filed a Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc and a Motion for Certification to the Supreme Court. On September 16, 2009, the Third District Court of Appeal denied Westgate's Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc and granted Westgate's Motion for Certification (the "Certification Order").<sup>37</sup> In the Certification Order, the Third District Court of Appeal may suggest a change in law by certifying questions,"<sup>38</sup> and concluded that "it is our view that the rule in *McGurn v. Scott* should be revisited."<sup>39</sup> Specifically, the Certification Order

WHERE THERE HAS BEEN AN AGREEMENT ON, OR NO OBJECTION TO, A RESERVATION OF JURISDICTION TO AWARD PREJUDGMENT INTEREST, SHOULD THE RESERVATION BE UPHELD IN ORDER TO PREVENT AN INJUSTICE NOTWITHSTANDING THE RULE IN <u>MCGURN V.</u> <u>SCOTT</u>, 569 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1992)?

<sup>35.</sup> The written opinion affirming the Interest Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "X." *Westgate Miami Beach, Ltd. v. Newport Operating Corp.*, 16 So.3d 855 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).

<sup>36.</sup> See Appendix, Tab "W" at p.8.

<sup>37.</sup> The Certification Order can be found at Appendix, Tab "Y."

<sup>38.</sup> *See* Certification Order, Appendix, Tab "Y," p. 2.

<sup>39.</sup> *Id*.

WHERE A JUDGMENT CONTAINS Α RESERVATION OF JURISDICTION TO AWARD PREJUDGMENT INTEREST, SHOULD THE APPEAL OF SUCH A JUDGMENT BE TREATED AS A PREMATURE APPEAL UNDER FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.100(l) OR MUST THE APPEAL BE TREATED AS ACCOMPLISHING A WAIVER OF PREJUDGMENT **INTEREST** PURSUANT TO MCGURN V. SCOTT, 569 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1992)?

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO RESERVE JURISDICTION TO AWARD PREJUDGMENT INTEREST POST-APPEAL AS IT CAN WITH ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS?

On December 3, 2009, this Court accepted jurisdiction to review the certified questions presented in the Certification Order.<sup>40</sup>

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

First, this Court should overrule the *McGurn* decision to avoid a harsh and unjust result. Here, Westgate's initial appeal of the improperly rendered Final Judgment should be treated as a premature appeal under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100(l) and should not be treated as accomplishing a waiver of prejudgment interest.

The record is clear on this: The Lower Court ruled in the Final Judgment on entitlement; the record made at trial contains Westgate's evidence sufficient to support the amount of interest; Westgate filed timely motions at each step of the

<sup>40.</sup> *Westgate Miami Beach, Ltd. v. Newport Operating Corp.*, 22 So.3d 69 (Fla. 2009).

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