IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC09-1881 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 3D09-264

WESTGATE MIAMI BEACH, LTD, A Florida Limited Partnership

Petitioner,

v.

NEWPORT OPERATING CORP., a Florida Corporation

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Respectfully submitted, Arnstein & Lehr LLP 200 East Las Olas Boulevard Suite 1700 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (954) 713-7600 Facsimile: (954) 713-7700 Franklin L. Zemel Florida Bar No. 816620 John M. Cooney, Esq. Florida Bar No.: 854451

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Throughout its Initial Brief, Westgate attempts to expand this Court's review beyond the certified questions and engage this Court in a *de novo* review of the underlying case. Westgate, for example, attempts to reargue that it did, in fact, file

a Rule 1.530 Motion for Rehearing, even though the Third District Court of Appeal, like the Trial Court, "refuse[d] to construe the plaintiff's motion to assess prejudgment interest as a rule 1.530(b) motion for rehearing." Westgate Miami Beach, Ltd. v. Newport Operating Corp., 16 So.3d 855, 858 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). Westgate also repeatedly reargues that Newport unilaterally led the Trial Court into error, even though the Third District Court of Appeal found that "a complete review of the record" reveals Newport did not. Id. This Court has exercised its discretionary jurisdiction, pursuant to article V, section 3 (b) (4) of the Florida Constitution, to consider three questions certified by the Third District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance. While this Court certainly can expand its jurisdiction after deciding the certified questions and then consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based, this Court should do so only where these additional issues have been properly briefed and argued and, more importantly, are dispositive of the case. See Warner v. City of Boca Raton, 884 So.2d 1023, 1035 (Fla. 2004); Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 648 So.2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995). It is respectfully suggested that the issues of whether Westgate's post-trial motion was a Rule 1.530 motion, and whether one party invited error, are issues not dispositive of the case. Westgate's post-trial motion to assess prejudgment interest, even if it were to be construed on a de novo review to be a Rule 1.530 (b) motion, would not be dispositive of the case because that

motion was abandoned by Westgate when Westgate filed the first Notice of Appeal in the underlying action thereby divesting the Trial Court of subject matter jurisdiction. In other words, Westgate abandoned its purported Rule 1.530 motion and thereby waived its prejudgment interest. Likewise, the invited error doctrine cannot be used to confer subject matter jurisdiction, so even if a *de novo* review revealed that this case involved the doctrine of invited error that doctrine would not alter the result here. The Trial Court was divested of subject matter jurisdiction and could not amend the final judgment once Westgate filed its Notice of Appeal, and the doctrine of invited error does not cure that problem. Ultimately, this Court will decide, upon answering the certified questions, whether to review these other issues *de novo*. The Respondent will address the certified questions in the order they were presented by the Third District Court of Appeal.

I. First Certified Question.

The Third District Court of Appeal has certified three questions to this Court. The first question reads:

"Where there has been an agreement on, or no objection to, a reservation of jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest, should the reservation be upheld in order to prevent an injustice notwithstanding the rule in *McGurn v. Scott*, 596 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1992)?"

This certified question posits whether a "well-settled" rule of law⁸ that has existed for eighteen years should be disregarded in instances where its application would create "an injustice." The "injustice" sought to be prevented, and referred to in the certified question, is the inadvertent waiver of prejudgment interest that can occur, and has occurred in a few cases since McGurn, where a party does not adhere to the "clear-cut rule." The clear-cut rule established by McGurn and its progeny is that the amount of a final judgment must be plain on its face and not require further calculations to be performed prior to execution of the judgment. When an order for final judgment leaves the determination of prejudgment interest for future adjudication, a party should move for rehearing under Rule 1.530 to correct the error in order to secure a prejudgment interest award. After moving for rehearing, that party must not abandon its own motion for rehearing by filing a notice of appeal while the motion for rehearing is still pending.

To be sure, bright-line rules <u>always</u> create an "injustice" to the party that fails to adhere to the rule, and *McGurn* is no exception. The injustice sought to be avoided by a modification of *McGurn* is the "inadvertent waiver of prejudgment interest" that has occurred to a handful of litigants in post-*McGurn* cases: *Avatar Dev. Corp. v. DeAngelis*, 944 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); *Home Ins. Co. v.*

_

⁸ In its majority opinion, the Third District refers to the *McGurn* decision, and the cases that flow from *McGurn*, as "the well-settled rule" and "the clear-cut rule set forth in Florida's case law." *Westgate Miami Beach, Ltd. V. Newport Operating Corp.*, 16 So.3d 855, 859 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).

Crawford & Co., 890 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); and Emerald Coast Communications v. Carter, 780 So.2d 968 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), to name a few. A bright-line rule, however, is meant to apply in all cases, without exception, or else it is not a "bright-line" rule.

Westgate, in its Initial Brief, attempts to broaden the certified question, as framed, and imply that the "injustice" sought to be prevented in the certified question is something more than the inadvertent waiver of prejudgment interest. In its section dealing with this first certified question [IB at pages 26 - 30], Westgate argues that it was the victim of "the classic 'gotcha' scenario;" that enforcing the McGurn rule under the facts of this case "condones express trickery by opposing counsel to the prevailing party's detriment⁹;" and that "there must be an exception crafted from the McGurn rule to fit the facts of the instant case." [IB at pages 28] and 29]. By attempting to twist the "injustice" referred to in the certified question from inadvertent waiver into "express trickery" or deliberate deceit, Westgate is arguing contrary to the findings of the Third District Court of Appeal, inviting this Court to answer a question not presented by the facts of this case, and essentially engaging this Court in a *de novo* review rather than a review limited to the question

⁹

⁹ Yet, in its Reply Brief to the Third District Court of Appeal, Westgate acknowledged that Newport's Counsel's representations to the Court on this issue were innocently done: "Westgate accepts Newport's counsel's protestations that his misguided assurances to the Lower Court were not purposeful." [Westgate's Reply Brief at p. 5, fn.8, R3-540].

certified. In its majority opinion, the Third District found that "counsel for Newport did not unilaterally lead the trial court to error;" declined to hold that "the improper provision in the trial court's judgment was invited solely by counsel for Newport;" and that the trial court and the lawyers mistakenly (and "innocently") believed that the amount of prejudgment interest could be determined in post-appeal proceedings. *Westgate v. Newport*, 16 So.3d at 858, 859, and 861 fn. 2. To suggest that a "fraud" or "deceit" exception should be carved out of the *McGurn* rule raises an issue not presented by the facts of this case, and is not representative of the issue framed by the certified question.

The certified question fairly asks, where there has been an agreement on, or no objection to, a trial court's reservation of jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest, should *McGurn* still apply? As pointed out by the majority, the issue raised is one of "subject matter jurisdiction:"

"Once the plaintiff took an appeal from the final order (along with its improper prejudgment interest provision) without challenging the provision by way of a rule 1.530(b) motion for rehearing, exclusive jurisdiction over the subject matter of the final order, excluding attorneys' fees and costs, was vested with this Court."

Westgate v. Newport, 16 So.3d at 858. It has long been the law in Florida that subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred by agreement of the parties and the Court, by the doctrine of judicial estoppel, or even by the invited error doctrine. Florida courts have consistently held that "subject mater jurisdiction cannot be

created by waiver, acquiescence or agreement of the parties, or by error or inadvertence of the parties or their counsel, or by the exercise of power by the court; it is a power that arises solely by virtue of law." 84 Lumber Company v. Cooper, 656 So.2d 1297, 1298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (quoting Florida Exp. Tobacco Co. v. Dept. of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), review denied sub. Nom. Lewis v. Fla. Exp. Tobacco Co., 519 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1987)) (bold emphasis added). Therefore, to grant the change in the law requested by Westgate, this Court would have to entirely vacate these cases. Further, the principle of invited error does not overcome lack of jurisdiction, and neither does the doctrine of judicial estoppel. Younger v. City of Palm Bay, 697 So.2d 589 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (concurring opinion stating that subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred through the doctrine of invited error); FCCI Mut. Ins. V. Cayce's Excavation, 675 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (it is well-settled that subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred by estoppel). Because the appellate court's jurisdiction is exclusive with respect to the subject matter of an appeal, once the appeal is taken the trial court will lack the jurisdiction to take any further action in the matter. Emerald Coast Communications, Inc. v. Carter, 780 So.2d 968, 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (bold emphasis added). This Court previously addressed this very issue in McGurn:

"Whether the parties stipulated to the reservation of jurisdiction is irrelevant to our decision. An agreement by both parties to reserve jurisdiction does not make the order final."

McGurn, 596 So.2d at fn. 1 (citing Ralston Purina v. Tancak, 508 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The purported "harshness" of the bright-line rule of McGurn is, as the majority points out in its opinion, "softened, to some extent, by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530(b), and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.600(b)."¹⁰ The fact that Westgate "did not avail itself of either of these two options" does not call out for a modification of McGurn solely to benefit Westgate. Westgate waived its prejudgment interest because: (a) Westgate created the error in the first place by drafting the final judgment with the unusual provision that prejudgment interest would be entered by "separate order" and then advising the Trial Court "you absolutely can" establish the amount of prejudgment interest at a hearing held at a later date; (b) Westgate kept insisting that prejudgment interest be assessed by way of a "separate order;" (c) Westgate did not file a Rule 1.530 motion; (d) Westgate did file the first Notice of Appeal while its own post-trial motion was still pending thereby abandoning its own post-trial motion and divesting the Trial Court of subject matter jurisdiction; and (e) Westgate did not seek relinquishment of jurisdiction from the appellate court to determine prejudgment interest, claiming

^{.0} 16 So.3d at 857.

¹¹ 16 So.3d at 857.

"it didn't have to," but instead waited until a Mandate had issued from the Appellate Court. Westgate now seeks to have this Court carve out an exception to the McGurn rule for its "inadvertent" waiver of prejudgment interest despite the fact that well-established rules and century-old case law on subject matter jurisdiction will need to be tossed in the process. Bright-line rules usually do impose a harsh result upon the side that runs afoul of them, but few provide so many escape hatches as the McGurn rule does. Statutes of Limitation are one example of a bright-line rule that imposes a harsh result on the litigant that misses it. Here, Westgate seeks a carve-out from a bright-line rule that has been applied uniformly by the District Courts of Appeal for the last eighteen years, or alternatively, seeks to reverse century-old law to now have prejudgment interest be declared ancillary to a final judgment and not a substantive part of it. And, Westgate seeks this special exemption from the Florida Supreme Court even where Westgate has already *released* its current claim for prejudgment interest by way of executing a broad general release that Westgate entered into with Newport (and other parties) post-appeal. [See, Respondent's Suggestion of Mootness, filed contemporaneous with this Answer Brief]. For all of these reasons, this Court should answer the first certified question in the negative.

II. Second Certified Question.

The second question certified by the Third District Court of Appeal reads as follows:

"Where a judgment contains a reservation of jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest¹², should the appeal of such a judgment be treated as a premature appeal under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100(1), or must the appeal be treated as accomplishing a waiver of prejudgment interest pursuant to *McGurn v. Scott*, 596 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1992)?"

As framed, this question presumes an "either/or" scenario that does not currently exist. The question presupposes that where a judgment improperly reserves jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest, the appeal must either (a) be dismissed as premature; or (b) accomplish a waiver of prejudgment interest. In fact, there is a third option, an "escape hatch": the appellate court can exercise its discretion to relinquish jurisdiction back to the trial court to calculate the prejudgment interest and include it in the final judgment before resuming jurisdiction and proceeding with the appeal. The question, as posed, fails to provide for the safety net already in existence. The question, as framed, is also not entirely representative of the issue presented by the facts of this case. Missing from the certified question is the additional fact that here the affected party

¹² The premise of this question is that courts will ignore *McGurn* and write final judgments that reserve jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest. The Florida Supreme Court wrote *McGurn* precisely to inform the judiciary that final judgments should not be reserving jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest.

(Westgate) was the party that <u>initiated</u> the appeal in the first place, by being first to file a Notice of Appeal. The "inadvertent" waiver of prejudgment interest by Westgate was not created by the fact that an appeal was taken, but by the fact that <u>Westgate</u> initiated the appeal while its "purported" rule 1.530 motion was still pending. A party who files a notice of appeal is deemed to have abandoned his own pending post-trial motions. A notice of appeal that is filed by <u>another</u> party has no such effect on any pending post-trial motions that were filed by the other party or parties. *Howell v. Jackson*, 810 So.2d 1081, 1082 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). Only <u>Westgate</u> could abandon Westgate's own post-judgment motion by filing its own – and first – Notice of Appeal on June 15, 2007.

In any event, Westgate did not bring a Rule 1.530(b) motion. This Court rejected the practice of dismissing an appeal of a judgment that improperly reserves the issue of prejudgment interest for further adjudication in *McGurn*:

"We agree with the district court in the instant case that the trial court's order was not final and that it was improper for the trial court to render an order in the form of a final judgment while simultaneously reserving the issue of prejudgment interest for further adjudication. We do not, however, agree that the appeal was premature and should have been dismissed."

¹³ The appellate court, like the trial court, refused to construe Westgate's motion to assess prejudgment interest as a rule 1.530(b) motion for rehearing.

¹⁴ See, *In re: Forfeiture of \$104,591*, 589 So.2d 283,284 (Fla. 1991), in which this Court wrote "We emphasize that the rule that a party abandons a post-trial judgment motion by filing a notice of appeal is the proper rule, and we hold that the abandonment doctrine still applies in this state."

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